**THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

NONA TOBIN,

Appellant,

v.

BRIAN CHIESI, an individual; DEBORA CHIESI, an individual; QUICKEN LOANS, INC.; JOEL A. STOKES, an individual; JOEL A. STOCKS and SANDRA F. STOKES as Trustees of the JIMI JACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST; REDROCK FINANCIAL SERVICES; and NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed  
Sep 30 2021 03:49 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 82294

Dist. Court No.: A-19-799890-C

**APPEAL**

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County Nevada  
The Honorable Susan Johnson, Department XXII, District Court Judge  
District Court Case No. A-19-799890-C

---

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Appellant Nona Tobin’s instant appeal concerns three separate matters. For the first matter, the Motion to Dismiss, the basis for jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(1) because this is an appeal from a final judgment. On December 3, 2020, the Order Granting Defendant Red Rock Financial Services’ (hereinafter “Red Rock”) Motion to Dismiss Complaint and all Joinders to the Motion (hereinafter the “Red Rock Order”) was filed and served. AA4486-AA4510. Notice of Entry of the Red Rock Order was filed on December 3, 2020. AA4511-4537. Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal of the Red Rock Order on December 29, 2020. AA4556-AA4557.

For the second matter, which is an appeal of an order granting attorney’s fees and costs, the basis for jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(8) because orders granting attorney’s fees constitute special orders under said rule. On September 6, 2020, the Court filed the Order Granting Joel A. Stokes, Joel A. Stokes and Sandra Stokes as Trustees of the Jimijack Irrevocable Trust’s (hereinafter the “Jimijack Parties”) Joinder and Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs. Pursuant to EDCR 7.60(1) and/or (3) (hereinafter the “Jimijack Order”). AA4381-AA4388. On October 8, 2020, the Notice of Entry of the Jimijack Order was filed. AA4423-AA4433. On November 9, 2020, Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal of the Jimijack Order. AA4463-AA4464.

For the third matter, which is an appeal of an order granting attorney’s fees and costs, the basis for jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(8) because orders granting attorney’s fees constitute special orders under said rule. On November 17, 2020, an Order was entered Granting Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs in favor of Brian Chiesi, Debora Chiesi, and Quicken Loans, Inc. (said parties hereinafter the “Chiesi Parties”) (said order hereinafter the “Chiesi Order”) was filed and served. On November 17, 2020, the Notice of Entry of the Chiesi Order was filed. AA4475-AA4483. On December 17, 2020, Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal of the Chiesi Order. AA4547-AA4548.

The Notices of Appeal of the Jimijack and Chiesi Orders created two appeals separate from the instant appeal (Supreme Court Case Nos. 82094 and 82234 respectively). However, the Supreme Court entered an Order Dismissing Appeals in Docket Nos. 82094 and 82234, and Disapproving Stipulation on June 22, 2021. Said Order dismissed Appeals in Docket Nos. 82094 and 82234 because the Supreme Court found that “this court lacks jurisdiction.” However, the Order stated that the issues raised in said Appeals “may be challenged in the context of Docket No. 82294 on appeal from the final judgment.”

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The present case is assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(6) and (7). NRAP 17(b)(6) states that the following are presumptive assigned to the

Court of Appeals: “[c]ases involving a contract dispute where the amount in controversy is less than \$75,000.” Furthermore NRAP 17(b)(7) states: “[a]ppeals from post judgment orders in civil cases” are presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. The present Appeal concerns the granting of a motion to dismiss in a civil case as well as the granting of two motions for attorney’s fees in the same matter.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the district court erred in Granting Red Rock’s Motion to Dismiss, and the Related Joinders thereto;
2. Whether the district court erred in Granting the Jimijack Parties’ Motion to Attorney’s Fees and Costs; and,
3. Whether the district court erred in Granting the Chiesi Parties’ Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The instant case arises from a HOA foreclosure sale held on August 15, 2014. Tobin acquired her interest in the real property at issue, following the death of her fiancé, Gordon B. Hansen in January of 2012. Tobin intervened with claims in the two (2) underlying cases, both as successor trustee to her fiancé's trust, the Gordon B. Hansen Trust, dated August 22, 2008, and in her individual capacity, as the beneficial interest holder to the subject property.

Tobin, as a pro se litigant, initially intervened in district court case no. A-15-720032-C (hereinafter the "First Action") both: (1) as an individual, and beneficial interest holder in the subject property, and (2) as successor trustee to the Gordon B. Hansen Trust. During the First Action, the Gordon B. Hansen Trust was wound down and any right, title, or interest in the subject property was conveyed to Tobin. Tobin attempted to dismiss the Gordon B. Hansen Trust and join Red Rock as a party to the First Action, however, her efforts were thwarted by the district court. Shortly before the bench trial in the First Action, the district court struck all Tobin's pleadings as an individual and excluded her as a party to the First Action. Following the death of her fiancé, and disclaimer of interest of the other beneficial interest holder, Tobin had acquired title to the subject property. However, the district court excluded Tobin from participating in the bench trial in the First Action, and struck her pleadings. Tobin appealed, but the appellate court dismissed her appeal as she

had no standing because the district court struck her as an individual in the First Action. Therefore, Tobin had no recourse but to file her claims as an individual in district court case no. A-19-799890-C (hereinafter the “Second Action”).

In the Second Action, Tobin filed suit in her individual capacity as title holder to the subject property, and made claims against Red Rock, the HOA’s foreclosure agent, Nationstar, who Tobin claims prevented her from selling the subject property prior to the foreclosure sale, and the subsequent purchasers, the Jimijack Parties and the Chiesi Parties.

In the Second Action, Red Rock filed its motion to dismiss claiming *res judicata*, claim preclusion, and nonmutual claim preclusion (hereinafter the “doctrine of *res judicata*”). Nationstar, the Jimijack Parties, and the Chiesi Parties joined in Red Rock’s motion to dismiss, and the district court granted Red Rock’s Order, dismissal with prejudice, and awarded attorney’s fees and costs to the Jimijack Parties and the Chiesi Parties.

The district court erred in granting Red Rock’s Order based on the doctrine of *res judicata*. Tobin and Red Rock were not parties to the First Action due to the following district court actions: (1) Tobin’s pleadings, in her individual capacity, were stricken at the bench trial, and she was removed as a party; and (2) Tobin requested joinder of Red Rock was denied. Therefore, Tobin had good reasons for not participating as an individual and for not joining Red Rock in the First Action,

the district court's denial. Therefore, Red Rock's Order based on the doctrine of *res judicata* is reversible error as Tobin had good reasons for bringing her claims in the Second Action.

Additionally, because Tobin has a good faith basis for bringing the Second Action, the district court abused its discretion in granting the Jimijack Parties' attorney's fees, especially in light of counsel's failure to specifically articulate each of the *Brunzell factors*, including his education and experience. The district court further abused its discretion in awarding the Chiesi Parties' attorney's fees and costs as counsel's request appeared unreasonable in light of her familiarity with the First Action.

*Res judicata* will not be applied if injustice would result, or if the public interest requires that relitigation not be foreclosed. *Villacres v. ABM Industries, Inc.*, 189 Cal.App.4th 562, 577 (Cal.Ct.App. 2010). Tobin respectfully requests this Court to overturn Red Rock's Order, and reverse the awards of attorneys' fees in the Jimijack's Order; and the Chiesi's Order in the interest of justice and equity.

This Court should find that district court committed reversible error because it misapplied the doctrine of *res judicata* in granting the Red Rock Order and abused its discretion when awarding the Jimijack Order and Chiesi Order. Therefore, Tobin respectfully requests this Court should overturn and reverse the following orders: (1) the Red Rock Order; (2) the Jimijack Order; and (3) the Chiesi Order.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### I. General Background

On or about July 31, 2003, Gordon B. Hansen and his wife Marilyn Hansen purchased real property located at 273 White Sage Dr., Henderson, NV 89052, APN 191-13-811-052 (hereinafter the "Property"). AA3573-AA3576. On June 11, 2004, Marilyn Hansen quitclaimed her interest in the Property to Gordon B. Hansen. AA3578-AA3581. On or about August 22, 2008, Gordon B. Hansen executed the Gordon B. Hansen Trust (hereinafter the "Hansen Trust") which identified Tobin and Steven Hansen as beneficiaries, designated Tobin as the successor trustee, and designated Steven Hansen as alternative successor trustee. AA3583-AA3612. On August 27, 2008, Gordon B. Hansen deeded title to the Property into the Hansen Trust by way of Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed. AA3614- AA3615. Gordon B. Hansen died on January 14, 2012. AA3619.

Tobin paid the homeowners assessments and late fees for three quarters after Gordon Hansen's death. AA3564. However, there were discrepancies regarding payments applied and correspondence between Tobin and the HOA's management. AA3621-AA3630. Despite these payments, attempts to close by requesting payoffs, and the correspondence between the parties, on December 14, 2012, Red Rock, as the foreclosure agent for the HOA, recorded a Lien for Delinquent Assessments with the Clark County Recorder's Office. AA3632. On March 12, 2013, Red Rock



recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell with the Clark County Recorder's Office. AA3634. On February 12, 2014, Red Rock recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale with the Clark County Recorder's Office. AA3644-AA3645.

On August 15, 2014, Red Rock sold the Property at auction to Opportunity Homes, LLC for \$63,100.00. AA3658-AA3660. On August 22, 2014, a Foreclosure Deed was recorded with the Clark County Recorder's Office. *Id.* As a result of Red Rock's sale of the Property, there were excess proceeds in the approximate amount of \$57,282 in Red Rock's possession. AA1044. Tobin claimed issues inherent to Red Rock's sale of the Property including, but not limited to, failure to provide requisite notices, failure to accept tenders of the super priority amounts, errors in accounting, misrepresentations of fact to the Nevada Real Estate Division's Ombudsman's Office, errors in the Foreclosure Deed's recitals, and misrepresenting the assessment amounts due and owing. AA3564-AA3566.

On June 9, 2015, Opportunity Homes, LLC quitclaimed the Property to F. Bondurant, LLC. AA3849-AA3851. On June 9, 2015, F. Bondurant, LLC quitclaimed the Property to the Jimijack Parties. AA3853-AA3855. On May 1, 2019, the Jimijack Parties transferred their rights in the Property to the Chiesi Parties by way of a Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed. AA4199-AA4206.

## **II. Relevant Procedural History**

### **a. The Jimijack Parties Commence the First Action.**

On June 16, 2015, the Jimijack Parties filed a Complaint with the Eighth Judicial District Court (A-15-720032-C). AA0001-AA0008. The Complaint asserted the following claims: 1) quiet title; 2) cancellation of instruments; 3) injunctive relief; 4) breach of contract; and 5) indemnification. *Id.*

On January 11, 2016, Nationstar, apparently unaware of the First Action, instigate a separate action by filing a Complaint (A-16-730078-C). AA0012-AA0172. Nationstar's Complaint asserted the following claims: 1) quiet title/declaratory relief; 2) preliminary injunction; and 3) unjust enrichment. *Id.* On June 30, 2016, the Jimijack Parties filed a Motion to Consolidate the First Action with the A-16-730078-C matter. On July 29, 2016, Tobin, together with Steve Hansen in proper person, filed a Motion to Intervene in the A-16-730078-C matter. AA0281-AA0345. On August 26, 2016, an Order was filed granting the Jimijack Parties' Motion to Consolidate which consolidated the A-16-730078 matter into the First Action. AA0347-AA0348. On September 29, 2016, the Court issued a minute order denying without prejudice Tobin and Steven Hansen's Motion to Intervene as procedurally deficient. AA0349.

On November 15, 2016, Tobin, individually and as Trustee of the Hansen Trust, filed another Motion to Intervene. AA0350-AA0467. On January 12, 2017, an Order was entered granting Tobin and the Hansen Trust's Motion to Intervene in the First Action. AA0482-AA0486. Thereafter, the caption for the First Action read "Nona Tobin, an individual, and Trustee of the [Hansen Trust]." On January 31, 2017, the

Hansen Trust filed a Crossclaim against the HOA which included the following claims: 1) quiet title and equitable relief; 2) civil conspiracy; 3) fraudulent concealment; 4) unjust enrichment; and 5) breach of contract. AA0487-AA0582. On February 1, 2017, the Hansen Trust filed an Answer to the Jimijack Parties' Complaint and a Counterclaim which alleged the following claims: 1) quiet title and equitable relief; 2) fraudulent reconveyance; 3) unjust enrichment; 4) civil conspiracy; and 5) preliminary and permanent injunction. AA0583-AA0620.

On March 28, 2017, the Hansen Trust was wound down, and as a result it quitclaimed all of its right, title, and interest in and to the Property to Tobin, individually. AA4176-AA4179. On November 30, 2019, Tobin filed a Motion to Amend Answer, Counterclaim, and Crossclaims. AA0864-AA0897. Mr. Coppedge of Mushkin Cica Coppedge, who had made in an appearance on behalf of Tobin and the Hansen Trust on May 24, 2017, incorrectly stated in the Motion to Amend that Tobin sought to delete herself as a party because the real party in interest was the Hansen Trust. AA0867. Mr. Coppedge was apparently unaware of Tobin's quitclaim deed that had been recorded on March 28, 2017 divesting the Hansen Trust of any right, title, or interest in the Property. The Motion to Amend stated that the reasons to amend were to add a claim for money damages against the Jimijack Parties, to clarify the Hansen Trust's claim for quiet title to include all parties, and to add third-party claims against

Red Rock for failure to distribute the excess proceeds, who had thus far not been added to the litigation. AA0867.

On January 10, 2019, despite the fact that the Motion to Amend was unopposed, the Court issued a Minute Order granting the Motion to Amend as far as the Motion did not seek to add additional parties or crossclaims and did not affect the trial date. AA0898. In essence, the Court did not allow Red Rock to be added as a party to the First Action despite the fact that Red Rock was the entity that performed the HOA foreclosure and despite the fact that it still retained the excess proceeds from said sale. *Id.* As a result of the Court's ruling disallowing the Motion to Amend, no amendment was filed, and both the Hansen Trust and Tobin individually remained in the First Action. *Id.*

On February 5, 2019, the HOA moved for summary judgment seeking to validate the August 15, 2014 sale of the Property despite the numerous irregularities during the NRS 116 foreclosure process. AA0899-AA1073. On April 12, 2019, the claims between the Jimijack Parties and Nationstar were settled, and a Notice of Settlement was filed with the district court. AA1412-AA1414. On April 18, 2019, the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered granting summary judgment in favor of the HOA concluding that "the HOA properly followed the processes and procedures in foreclosing upon the Property." AA1427-AA1441. On May 1, 2019, the Jimijack Parties transferred their rights in the Property to Joel Stokes

by way of a Quitclaim Deed. AA4199-AA4201. On December 27, 2019, Joel Stokes transferred their rights in the Property to the Chiesi Parties by way of a Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed. AA4203-AA4206.

On May 23, 2019, Tobin and the Hansen Trust filed a Motion to Substitute Real Party in Interest and to Withdraw as Counsel of Record for Tobin individually. AA1800-AA1807. The Motion sought to substitute Tobin in for the Hansen Trust as the Hansen Trust had previously conveyed all of its right, title, and interest in and to the Property. *Id.* The Motion also sought to have Mr. Coppedge withdraw as counsel of record for Tobin but to continue to represent the Hansen Trust. *Id.* On May 29, 2019, while hearing Tobin and the Hansen Trust's Motion for Reconsideration, the Court elected to hear the issue presented by Tobin's Motion to Substitute. AA2407. The district court erroneously denied Tobin and the Hansen Trust's Motion and elected to strike all "representations about [Tobin] being an individual party in the case." *Id.* As a result of the lower court's order, Tobin was not allowed to participate in the remainder of the proceedings or the trial in the First Action in an individual capacity. Finally, the district court *sua sponte* took Tobin's Motion to Substitute off calendar. *Id.*

The district court conducted a bench trial on June 5, 2019 where the district court extinguished Tobin's rights, title, and interest to the Property despite Tobin not being able to appear at the bench trial in an individual capacity. AA2470. Tobin subsequently

filed several motions including a Motion to Intervene as an individual, a Motion for New Trial, and a Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 38.310(2). AA3222-AA3227. However, the district court struck Tobin's Motions from the record by concluding that Tobin was not, and had never been, a party to the case. AA3225.

**b. Having Been Excluded from the First Action, Tobin Commences the Second Action.**

On August 7, 2019, Tobin, as an individual, filed a Complaint for claims including quiet title, equitable, declaratory and injunctive relief arising from a defective HOA foreclosure sale conducted without notice on August 15, 2014 (A-19-799890), the Second Action. Tobin included as defendants in the Second Action the Jimijack Parties, Nationstar, and the Chiesi Parties. AA3239-AA3256.

On June 23, 2020, Red Rock moved to dismiss the Second Action under the doctrine of *res judicata*. AA3257-3776. On June 25, 2020, Nationstar filed a brief Joinder to Red Rock's Motion to Dismiss. AA3722-AA3778. The Jimijack Parties filed a Joinder to Red Rock's Motion to Dismiss and for Attorney's Fees Pursuant to EDCR 7.60(b) on June 25, 2020. AA3777-3800. On July 6, 2020, the Chiesi Parties filed a Joinder to Red Rock's Motion to Dismiss as well as a Request for Judicial Notice. AA3801-AA4241. On August 11, 2020, the district court heard the defendants' Motions and Joinders. AA4368-4380.

On September 6, 2020, the Court issued the Jimijack Order wherein the Court granted the Jimijack Parties' Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. AA4381-4388.

The district court issued the Jimijack Order even before the Red Rock Order and considered as grounds for the Order authority and relief that was not cited or relied upon in the Jimijack Parties' Joinder and Motion. *Id.* On September 16, 2020, the Chiesi Parties moved for their attorney's fees. AA4389-4407. On November 17, 2020, the Chiesi Order was entered granting the Chiesi Parties' Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. AA\*\*. To date, Red Rock remains in possession of the \$57,282 in excess proceeds.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court incorrectly applied the doctrine of *res judicata* in granting Red Rock's motion to dismiss. In the First Action, Tobin made claims against the HOA, Nationstar, Bondurant LLC, and the Jimijack Parties to quiet title, for declaratory relief, and for other claims arising from the HOA foreclosure sale on August 15, 2014. Tobin knew that Red Rock acted as the HOA's foreclosure agent on the date of the sale, and in the motion to amend answer, counterclaims, and crossclaims, requested that the district court join Red Rock to the First Action. The district court denied Tobin's motion to join Red Rock, and rejected Tobin, in her individual capacity and struck her pleadings in her individual capacity before the bench trial in the First Action.

The First Action involved the HOA's foreclosure sale of the Property on August 15, 2014, and included various parties: (1) Nationstar, who acquired an

assignment to the deed of trust of the Property; (2) Opportunity Homes, LLC, who purchased the Property at the HOA foreclosure sale; and subsequent purchasers of the Property following the sale: F. Bondurant LLC; the Jimijack Parties; and the Chiesi Parties.

Tobin filed a Second Action against Red Rock for unjust enrichment, amongst other claims, as Red Rock still holds \$57,282 in excess proceeds from the August 15, 2014 foreclosure sale. In the Second Action, Red Rock filed its motion to dismiss based on the doctrine of *res judicata* against Tobin. The district court erred in granting Red Rock's motion to dismiss because it misapplied the Nevada Supreme Court's 3-prong test from *Five Star* and *Weddell*, discussed below. In the First Action, Tobin had good reasons for her non-participation, the district court striking Tobin, in her individual capacity, and its denial of her motion to join Red Rock. Thus, Tobin was precluded from participating and Red Rock was denied joinder by the district court. Therefore, there is no basis for Red Rock's dismissal, as the district court misapplied the doctrine of *res judicata*. Accordingly, because Red Rock's Order fails, there is no grounds for the Jimijack Order and the Chiesi Order, awarding attorney's fees and costs in the Second Action.

In the Second Action, pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b) and EDCR 7.60(b), because Tobin has a good faith basis for pursuing her claims, the district court abused its discretion in awarding the Jimijack Parties' and the Chiesi Parties' attorney's fees

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