# SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Case No. 82294

# NONA TOBIN, an individual, *Appellant*,

Electronically Filed Nov 15 2021 04:02 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

BRIAN CHIESI, an individual, DEBORA CHIESI, an individual; QUICKEN LOANS, INC.; JOEL A. STOKES, an individual; JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. STOKES as Trustees of the JIMIJACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST; RED ROCK FINANCIAL SERVICES; and NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, *Respondents*,

> Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada District Court Case No. A-19-799890-C The Honorable SUSAN JOHNSON

### RESPONDENT RED ROCK FINANCIAL SERVICES' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court properly dismissed Appellant's amended complaint based on claim preclusion and non-mutual claim preclusion. There is no injustice in allowing the lower court's decision to stand.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

When this Court reviews a district court's dismissal of an action pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) for failure to state a claim, it determines whether "the allegations [in the complaint] are insufficient to establish the elements of a claim for relief." *Stockmeier v. Nevada Dept. of Corrections Psychol. Rev. Panel*, 183 P.3d 133, 135 (Nev. 2008) (quoting *Hampe v. Foote*, 118 Nev. 405, 408, 47 P.3d 438, 439 (2002)). In evaluating a motion to dismiss, this Court "primarily focus[es] on the allegations in the complaint," but it is not limited to the four corners of the complaint. *Baxter v. Dignity Health*, 357 P.3d 927, 930 (Nev. 2015). The court will consider a copy of any written instrument attached as an exhibit to the pleading as well as unattached evidence if the evidence is mentioned in the complaint, the document is central to the plaintiff's claim, and no party questions the authenticity of the document. *Id*.

In this case, the allegations contained in the amended complaint were insufficient to establish the elements of any claim for relief because Appellant alleged facts that irrefutably demonstrate her claims are barred by the doctrine of claim preclusion.

## II. The Lower Court Did Not Err in Finding as a Matter of Law that Claim Preclusion Applied to Appellant's Second Identical Case.

The lower court properly applied the doctrine of claim preclusion in this matter. In general, claim preclusion is designed to prevent plaintiffs from filing any claims that were or could have been asserted in a different suit. *U. of Nevada v. Tarkanian*, 879 P.2d 1180, 1191–92 (Nev. 1994). This doctrine is designed to "obtain finality by preventing a party from filing another suit that is based on the same set of facts that were present in the initial suit." *Weddell v. Sharp*, 350 P.3d 80, 85 (Nev. 2015) (quoting *Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby*, 194 P.3d 709, 712 (Nev. 2008)). The concept of nonmutual claim preclusion, which has been expressly adopted by this Court, extends the doctrine and "embraces the idea that a plaintiff's second suit against a new party should be precluded 'if the new party can show good reasons why he should have been joined in the first action and the [plaintiff] cannot show any good reasons to justify a second chance.' " *Weddell v. Sharp*, 350 P.3d 80, 84–85 (Nev. 2015) (quoting 18A Charles Alan Wright, et al., Federal Practice and Procedure § 4464.1 (2d ed.2002) (emphasis added).

Courts apply the doctrines of claim preclusion and nonmutual claim preclusion when:

- (1) There is a valid final judgment,
- (2) a subsequent action is based on the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been brought in the first action, and
- (3) "the parties or their privies are the same in the instant lawsuit as they were in the previous lawsuit, or the defendant can demonstrate that he or she should have been included as a defendant in the earlier suit and the plaintiff fails to provide a 'good reason' for not having done so."

*Id.* at 85.

Here, there was a valid final judgment on all of the claims Appellant brought against the HOA and all other parties to the foreclosure sale. In granting summary judgment and issuing a decision after a bench trial, the trial court in the First Action finally held that the foreclosure conducted by Red Rock was lawful and that Appellant's claims were all improper. The lower court, in granting summary judgment in favor of the HOA in the First Action, found that "[t]he totality of the facts evidence that the HOA properly followed the processes and procedures in foreclosing upon the Property." Despite Appellant's attacks against Red Rock's actions, the lower court found that Red Rock properly conducted the foreclosure sale.

Furthermore, the current action is based on the same claims that were or could have been brought in the First Action. In both actions Appellant is challenging the validity of the foreclosure sale conducted by Red Rock based on Red Rock's actions in connection with that foreclosure sale. In both actions, Appellant asserts that Red Rock acted wrongfully for a host of reasons that are nearly identical in both cases and include claims that Red Rock failed to provide proper notice and misstated the amounts due and owing under the HOA lien. Each and every claim in the First Action and this action stem from those same allegations. All of the claims Appellant brought in this action, she brought in the First Action. If there were new claims in this case, those new claims certainly could have been brought in the First Action since this case is based on the exact same claims and exact same facts as in the First Action.

In regard to the parties, Appellant is the same or in privity to the plaintiff in the First Action. Appellant filed the First Action on behalf of the Trust and then filed this case in her individual capacity, presumably to avoid claim preclusion, which is impermissible. Appellant as an individual, however, is clearly in privity with Appellant as the trustee (and certainly where the trustee is pursuing Appellant's interests as the only alleged beneficiary of the Trust). The parties are, in fact, the same flesh and blood person. Appellant cannot avoid claim preclusion just by switching masks or by formulating new ownership theories of the Property.

Red Rock, on the other hand, was not named as a defendant in the First Action, but Red Rock's principal, the HOA, was in the middle of the action. As discussed above, Red Rock was the focal point of the First Action and the primary antagonist of the Crossclaim and related counterclaims. The entirety of the causes of action in the Crossclaim against the HOA read as though Appellant intended to name Red Rock, and only failed to name Red Rock as an unintended oversight. The actions of Red Rock were, moreover, the focal point of the HOA's motion for summary judgment and the trial on the merits. Red Rock would certainly qualify as a necessary party to the First Action under NRCP 19, and Appellant erred in failing to timely name Red Rock. Appellant had no good reason not to name Red Rock in the First Action, and she does not get the opportunity to retry all of her failed claims just because she previously made mistakes in naming parties.

This case is essentially the poster child for nonmutual claim preclusion. In fact, the doctrine seems specifically designed to address Appellant's inequitable efforts to parcel out her claims in front of different courts in hopes that something will stick. If the doctrine does not apply here, it will not apply anywhere. The lower court correctly applied the doctrine of claim preclusion in dismissing, with prejudice, Appellant's claims in their entirety. Appellant offers this Court nothing in her opening brief to justify a reversal of the lower court's decision.

### III. Privity is an Essential Aspect of Claim Preclusion and Must be Considered or Claim Preclusion Would Have No Effect.

Despite the well-settled application of claim preclusion by this Court, Appellant's appeal suggests that nonmutual claim preclusion should be discarded. Appellant suggests that she should be permitted to relitigate claims finally dismissed in the First Action because Red Rock was not previously a litigating party and because Appellant brought the First Action as a trustee and brought the current case as an individual. While Appellant's suggestion would certainly be convenient for her own unwarranted litigious purposes, the law is not on her side. Appellant flatly ignores the fact that claim preclusion applies when "the parties <u>or their privies</u> are the same in the instant lawsuit as they were in the previous lawsuit." *Weddell v. Sharp*, 350 P.3d 80, 85 (Nev. 2015) (emphasis added). As discussed above, Red Rock's actions were the centerpiece of the First Action, and Red Rock was the designated agent for the HOA, who actively litigated the First Action. Red Rock is undoubtedly in privity with the HOA. Likewise, Appellant the trustee is surely in privity with Appellant the individual. This was the central argument not only of Red Rock's motion, but of all of the joinders to the motion. Appellant dealt with the argument by ignoring it entirely, and she would have this Court turn a blind eye and completely ignore the concept of privity.

Privity is commonly seen as a "flexible concept dependent on the particular relationship between the parties in each individual set of cases." *Tahoe-Sierra Preservation Council, Inc. v. Tahoe Regl. Plan. Agency*, 322 F.3d 1064, 1081-82 (9th Cir. 2003). "Courts have recognized that a non-party may be bound if a party is so closely aligned with its interests as to be its 'virtual representative." *Schoenleber v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc.*, 423 F. Supp. 2d 1109, 1112 (D. Nev. 2006) (quoting *U.S. v. ITT Rayonier*, 627 F.2d 996, 1003 (9th Cir.1980)). There can be no doubt that Appellant is in privity with herself. Her interests are exactly the same as an individual as they were

as a trustee, which was to preserve title to the Property by voiding the HOA's foreclosure sale.

Claim preclusion prevents subsequent actions by privies specifically to prevent the types of games Appellant is now playing. The doctrine does not overlook wily parties that attempt to avoid final outcomes by slightly altering their legal identity. This is especially true when the same exact individual is bringing suit. As such, Appellant should not be permitted to bring suit on the theory that the Trust owned the Property, then transfer the Property into her own name through a "wild deed", continue to prosecute her action as a trustee, and then file a new suit in her individual capacity after losing as a trustee in the First Action. Appellant is in privity with herself and her claims are precluded.

#### IV. Appellant's Unjust Enrichment Claim Fails as a Matter of Law.

Even if claim preclusion did not apply, Appellant incorrectly argues that Red Rock's retention of excess proceeds forms the basis of her unjust enrichment claim. In Nevada, "unjust enrichment exists when the plaintiff confers a benefit on the defendant, the defendant appreciates such benefit, and there is acceptance and retention by the defendant of such benefit under circumstances such that it would be inequitable for him to retain the benefit without payment of the value thereof." *Certified Fire Prot. Inc. v.* 

*Precision Constr.*, 283 P.3d 250, 257 (Nev. 2012) (quoting *Unionamerica Mtg. v. McDonald*, 97 Nev. 210, 212, 626 P.2d 1272, 1273 (1981)).

Not only did Appellant not confer any benefit, but Red Rock has not retained any of the benefits that form the basis of her claims. Red Rock has never held any ownership or possessory rights to the Property, and it has, therefore, never had access to any profits derived from the rental, transfer, and sale of the Property after the foreclosure. The excess proceeds have been retained through the ongoing litigation since Appellant was seeking to void the foreclosure sale, but once Appellant's claims in this matter were dismissed with prejudice, Red Rock was able to interplead the funds (and as discussed below, that process has already been initiated). In fact, Red Rock has been forced to retain the excess proceeds far longer than it normally would have because of Appellant's repetitive filings and appeals. If Appellant choses to assert an interest in the excess proceeds, an action for unjust enrichment is an inappropriate vehicle to make such a claim. The unjust enrichment claim was properly dismissed.

### V. No Injustice Will Result if the Lower Court Decision is Upheld.

Appellant's argument that an injustice will occur if she is not allowed to proceed with her claims against Red Rock is without merit and her reasoning is circular. First and foremost, if the lower court's decision were

to be reversed, then that means the doctrine of claim preclusion is no more. That would be an enormous injustice.

Addressing Appellants arguments more directly, she suggests that because Red Rock is holding the excess proceeds the Court should reverse and remand to allow her to continue to litigate. This is where Appellant's reasoning becomes dizzyingly circular because Appellant's claims in the First Action focus on quiet title and declaratory relief – Appellant is overtly seeking to have the foreclosure sale set aside and voided so she can be declared the rightful owner of the Property. Not only has this argument been rejected over and over again, but if it were correct that the 2014 sale should again be considered by the lower courts, then that would mean all the parties go back to square one. If at the end of another full round of litigation the sale were actually set aside, Appellant would have no right to claim the excess proceeds because they would then go back to the original purchaser. This type of repetitive litigation would be a gross misapplication of the law, and an extreme waste of court resources and party resources.

In order to prevent injustice, the Court should dismiss Appellant's appeal.

# VI. New Arguments Should Not be Made for the First Time on Appeal.

As noted by the Chiesi Respondents in footnote 1 of their answering

brief, Appellant's opening brief raises new arguments for the first time on Appeal. This is improper. *See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2<sup>nd</sup> 981, 983 (Nev. 1981). The notion that Appellant is now abandoning her rights to the Property and instead asserting a claim to excess proceeds from the 2014 foreclosure sale is a new twist – though it is completely untruthful.

Appellant fails to inform the Court that an interpleader action is already pending in the Eighth Judicial District Court as Case No. A-21-828840-C. That case was initiated on February 3, 2021, shortly after Appellant's claims underlying this appeal were dismissed, with prejudice. Given that Appellant's second action to void the foreclosure sale failed, an interpleader is now proper so the district court can make a determination regarding who should receive those excess proceeds.

Appellant's new alleged plan to abandon rights to the Property is severely undercut by Appellant's actions in the interpleader case.<sup>1</sup>

#### **CONCLUSION**

Each of Appellant's claims are barred by the doctrine of claim preclusion and nonmutual claim preclusion as they are based on the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant has appeared in that case, and she is again aggressively attempting to void the HOA's 2014 foreclosure sale.

claims against the same parties or their privies, and the lower court entered a valid final judgment. Moreover, privity cannot be ignored when applying claim preclusion. Appellant should not be permitted to re-write the doctrine of claim preclusion.

Appellant's new assertions pertaining to excess proceeds are improperly raised for the first time on appeal, but Appellant's unjust enrichment claim nonetheless fails as a matter of law since she provided no benefit to Red Rock, nor did Red Rock appreciate or accept such a benefit.

For all the reasons discussed above, and as discussed in the Chiesi Respondents' answering brief, this Court should affirm the district court. DATED November 15, 2021.